2015

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Rick Jimenez Defendant/
Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction for one count of burglary, a second degree felony, Utah Code § 76-6-202, in the Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, Utah, the Honorable Denise Lindberg presiding. R. 158. A copy of the sentence, judgment, commitment is attached as Addendum A. This court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-4-103.

ISSUE, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION

Issue: Whether the trial court erred when it excluded Mr. Jimenez's medical records under rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. The records would have supported his testimony that health issues precluded him from climbing on a garbage can to enter a house through the window. Additionally and relatedly, whether the trial court erred when it ruled that counsel's failure to submit redacted versions of the medical records before trial precluded their admission.

Standard of Review/Preservation: This Court “review[s] a trial court’s decision to admit or exclude evidence under rule 403 using an abuse of discretion standard.” *State v. Downs*, 2008 UT App 247, ¶ 6, 190 P.3d 17 (alterations omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). Trial courts also have discretion to set deadlines for motion practice. *State v. Gonzalez*, 2015 UT 10, ¶ 48, 345 P.3d 1168. This issue was preserved. R. 178:165-175, 185-86.

STATUTES AND RULES

Utah Rules of Evidence 401, 402, and 403, and Utah Rule of Criminal Procedure 12 are relevant to this appeal and are attached as Addendum B.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Jimenez with burglary and theft. R. 1-2. The jury found Mr. Jimenez guilty of burglary and not guilty of theft. R. 178:249. The court sentenced him to one to fifteen years in prison. R. 158. He filed a timely notice of appeal. R. 160.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

N.N. testified that she returned to her house in December of 2012 at about 5 p.m. to find it disheveled. R. 178:76-78. She noticed that the plastic insulation on one of the windows had been pushed away and a garbage can had been placed underneath the window. R. 178:79, 97. The window was high enough off the ground that a person would have to reach up to touch the bottom of the sill. R. 179:97.

She notified the police, who gave her some paperwork and told her to call if she noticed anything else. R. 178:83. The officer testified that he looked through the house and did not notice any blood. R. 178:183. N.N. tidied up and went to sleep. R. 178:84.

The next morning, N.N. noticed blood “on the end of a bottom pillow.” R. 178:84. She also found “just bits” of blood on her dresser, the vanity in the bathroom, her blender, her shades, and clothing in her closet. R. 178:85-86. A crime scene investigator arrived at the scene, took photos, processed the scene for latent prints, and took a sample of the blood on the blender. R. 178:106-113. The only fingerprint sufficient for comparison was not a match to Mr. Jimenez. R. 178:134. The crime lab found that the DNA profile on the blood matched Mr. Jimenez. R. 178:125, 150. An officer asked Mr. Jimenez if he recognized photographs of N.N.’s house and he said it reminded him of his grandmother’s house but he had never been to the house in the photographs. R. 178:129. The officer did not check him for injuries because it was six months from the date of the break-in. R. 178:131.

N.N. made an inventory of everything that she believed was missing from her house. R. 178:89; State’s Ex. 14. She listed the “cost” of the items by “pull[ing]” “the middle” value from Amazon.com or from a “generalized idea of what [she] would pay for them or what [she] had paid for them.” R. 178:90-91. The list of thirty-six items included an iPod, three watches, jewelry, a Blackberry, women’s clothes, women’s boots, a DVD of the movie *Volver*, shampoo, a bottle of wine, and cash and checks from a cancer fundraiser. State’s Ex. 14.

Mr. Jimenez testified in his defense. R. 178:188. He had been in Salt Lake City helping a friend move shortly before the day N.N. reported a break-in, but he lived in Ogden. R. 178:189. He testified that he had never been in N.N.’s house. R. 178:197-98. However, while he was in Salt Lake City, he was knocked over by a pitbull while he and

his friend were in N.N.'s neighborhood right across from her house. R. 178:195-97. The pitbull was being walked by a younger Polynesian girl. R. 178:194. When the girl noticed that Mr. Jimenez was bleeding, she wiped his arm with a rag. R. 178:196. N.N. owns a pitbull that she said was in her basement with the door shut at the time of the break-in. R. 178:77, 94.

Mr. Jimenez also testified about his serious medical ailments. R. 178:190. He had six herniated disks, crushed vertebrae in his neck, and torn tendons in his arm and leg that made getting around difficult. R. 178:190. He was also in long-term treatment and physical therapy for his sciatic nerve. R. 178:191. He walked with a cane and his injuries would make it impossible for him to climb on a garbage can and through a window. R. 178:192, 195.

Outside the presence of the jury on the day of trial, the prosecution objected to the admission Mr. Jimenez's medical records as irrelevant. R. 178:165. At a review hearing a little more than a month before trial, defense counsel had alerted the court that counsel had "some medical records that I've made [opposing counsel] aware of and I will send them to him." R. 188:5. The court asked if defense counsel could "exchange . . . that information this week" and counsel agreed to do so. R. 188:5.

During the discussion of the relevance objection, defense counsel mentioned that he could introduce the records in selected portions, and keep out any mention of prison in the records. R. 178:169. Without an objection on this basis from the State, the court then stated, "you didn't bring it to me in advance of today. We don't re[d]act[] records. You already indicated that you want to read portions of it and leave other portions out. It —

we're dealing with very old records. And so no. You have — you had the opportunity to bring this matter in advance, you chose not to. I'm not going to sit here and have incomplete records presented or incomplete information." R. 178:170. Defense counsel "then . . . ask[ed] that they all be introduced." R. 178:170. The court responded: "anything that is relevant — anything that you include is — at most would be cumulative to the testimony that he's going to be presenting. So the motion is denied." R. 178: 170. The prosecutor then reminded the court that it was his motion, so the court ruled that the "State's motion is granted." R. 178:170.

The State then added a hearsay objection and a rule 403 objection for the record on appeal. R. 178:172-73. The court reasoned that the medical records were admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule. R. 178:173. The court initially overruled a rule 403 objection because "403 is a rule of inclusion" and "the State has not articulated any prejudice to itself." R. 178:175. However, the court later brought the issue up again and said that "cumulative evidence" was an issue as well as "potentially jury confusion." R. 178:185-86. The court was concerned with the "question [of] the relevance of 2007 medical records or 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011." R. 178:173. The court's ruling concerning timeliness was as follows:

And to the extent that they are — records that even assuming relevance, would have been — would include selective — would have only been selective coverage of or presentation of information which, as the defense has put on, by simply naming what pages he wishes to include, you know, clearly evidence that that would be a selective presentation and were brought to a court in a properly redacted form and were not properly raised to the court for prior determination of admissibility. All those are my grounds for denial.

R. 178:174. Mr. Jimenez submitted the medical records for the purposes of an appeal and they are attached as Addendum C.

The jury convicted Mr. Jimenez of burglary but acquitted on the theft charge. R. 178:249.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it excluded Mr. Jimenez's medical records, which corroborated his testimony that his physical condition would have made it impossible to climb on a garbage can and through a window.

First, the records were not only relevant, but highly probative. They were the defense's only corroboration for Mr. Jimenez's testimony, and there was nothing unnecessarily cumulative or confusing about them. The records would have substantiated Mr. Jimenez's testimony concerning his years of back pain and physical therapy. The jury could have easily determined what evidentiary weight to give the records.

Second, the defense was not obligated to redact the records before trial based on a general relevance objection that did not come until the day of trial. Defense counsel did present the records before trial; it was the prosecutor that waited until the defense's case-in-chief to object based on relevance.

The court's ruling excluding the medical records prejudiced Mr. Jimenez and requires reversal because the records were the only corroboration for his testimony. Aside from the presence of DNA, the State had no evidence of guilt. The prosecutor relied heavily on the argument that Mr. Jimenez lied on the stand to explain the DNA, comparing him to the character of Ralphie from *A Christmas Story* whose made-up story

“simply just doesn’t add up.” The records would have rebutted the charge of fabrication and supported the defense’s argument that Mr. Jimenez’s back problems would have prevented him from climbing on a garbage can and through a window.

ARGUMENT

I. THE MEDICAL RECORDS WERE ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULES 401, 402, AND 403 OF THE UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE.

Mr. Jimenez’s medical records were admissible under the rules of evidence because they were highly probative with minimal danger for confusing the jury or wasting the court’s time and resources.

First, the records were relevant. The State’s initial objection was relevance. R. 178:165. And although the trial court did not expressly rule that the records were irrelevant, the court’s reasoning included relevance concerns. R. 178:173 (“my more fundamental question is the relevance of 2007 medical records”), 175 (“I’m not concluded that there are relevant records. [sic] I’m indicated that if there was relevance I do not see why records so far in time that do not demonstrate more specific medical action to establish [inaudible] in the scheme of things rather than to this case.”).

This jurisdiction’s “relevance rules are binary. They provide only that relevant evidence is presumptively admissible and irrelevant evidence is not. And they define relevance in binary terms: Either evidence is relevant because it makes a fact of consequence more or less probable, or it is not because it does not.” *State v. Richardson*, 2013 UT 50, ¶ 27, 306 P.3d 526. Relevance is a “low bar.” *Id.* ¶ 25. In fact, “because the standard for determining whether evidence is relevant is so low, the issue of whether

evidence is relevant is rarely an issue.” *State v. Jaeger*, 1999 UT 1, ¶ 13, 973 P.2d 404. The fact of consequence in this case is Mr. Jimenez’s debilitating medical ailments that he testified have existed for the past fourteen years and would prevent him from climbing on a garbage can and through a window. R. 178:190-192. Mr. Jimenez testified that he had been suffering from the injuries and that they would not improve. R. 178:208. The medical records would have made this fact more probable because they showed that Mr. Jimenez has been reporting chronic back pain for years. Add. C p. 11-14, 25, 30, 31, 38, 43-45, 58, 65. A 2012 “Past Medical History” diagnosis reads: “Herniated intervertebral disk; Tendon disorder; . . . Chronic hypotension.” Add. C p. 12. The records report that he used a cane to walk. Add. C p. 31, 44. He was in physical therapy for “Back Pain – Injury.” Add. C p. 38. He explained that an injury in 2004 caused crushed vertebrae and torn tendons and that he has been prescribed medication for “constant pain.” Add. C p. 58, 65. Therefore, the medical records substantiate Mr. Jimenez’s testimony and make it more likely that he was testifying truthfully when he said that he could not climb on a garbage can and through a window and that his physical condition will only deteriorate. R. 178:192, 208. The records were relevant because they made it less likely that Mr. Jimenez could have committed the crime charged and more likely that he was testifying truthfully about his medical condition and his innocence.

The records were so probative that the judge did not have discretion to exclude them under Utah Rule of Evidence 403. A judge has discretion to exclude relevant evidence “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay,

wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.” Utah R. Evid. 403. “To determine whether the trial court exceeded its discretion in admitting the evidence under rule 403, [the appellate court] must first review its probative value. The probative value of evidence is judged by the strength of the evidence and its ability to make the existence of a consequential fact either more or less probable and the proponent’s need for the evidence.” *State v. Downs*, 2008 UT App 247, ¶ 8, 190 P.3d 17 (internal quotation marks omitted). The court did not make a specific finding on the probative value of the evidence, but it did express concerns about “relevance to identify medical issues.” R. 178:166, 173. Defense counsel responded that the records would “corroborate his testimony that he has these medical issues and has difficulty in moving” and it was “highly unlikely as a result of those conditions” that he could enter the house as described. R. 178:166.

Defense counsel was correct. The records had substantial probative value. As noted above, they show that Mr. Jimenez complained of serious back pain that restricted his movement well before restricted movement became a defense to criminal charges. Courts and juries often view a defendant’s testimony in his own defense as self-serving and therefore unreliable. *See State v. Cruz-Meza*, 2003 UT 32, ¶ 18, 76 P.3d 1165 (defendant was “incorrect that the trial court’s ruling excluding his self-serving statement . . . require[d] reversal” because the “trial court properly considered the trustworthiness of the statement and found it lacking”); *State v. Johnson*, 671 P.2d 215, 217 (Utah 1983) (per curiam) (calling defendant’s statement “self-serving . . . and of questionable reliability”); *State v. Neeley*, 489 P.2d 433, 434 (Utah 1971) (“The rest of [the

defendant's] testimony was so self-serving, unlikely and questionable as not to have impressed the jury any more than this court"). The medical records prove that Mr. Jimenez did not pretend to have a bad back on the witness stand to avoid conviction. In addition to acting as prior consistent statements, they also show that doctors and physical therapists agreed that his condition was serious, requiring prescription medication and physical therapy. Add. C p. 31, 65. The probative value of the evidence was high both because the records were strong evidence and because the evidence was necessary to the defense.

Such evidence was necessary in this case because the State argued that Mr. Jimenez had fabricated his testimony to explain the presence of his DNA in the house. The State's closing repeatedly compared Mr. Jimenez to Ralphie, a character in "one of [the prosecutor's] favorite movies, [A] *Christmas Story*." R. 178:225. The character got a "Red Rider BB gun, [and] he went outside and he did something that he probably shouldn't have done." R. 178:225-26. "He almost shot his eye out." R. 178:226. "But Ralphie was quick" and in order to avoid "responsibility for his decisions" and "explain the physical evidence," he "thought of a story." R. 178:226. The prosecutor argued that "much like Ralphie, [Mr. Jimenez] thought of a story," but that his story "simply just doesn't add up." R. 178:226. The prosecutor therefore relied heavily on the argument that Mr. Jimenez had told an unbelievable and uncorroborated story. The defense was left only with the argument that "there [was] nothing to rebut the fact that he obtained medical attention" instead of the argument that additional evidence substantiated that claim. R. 178:239.

Because the probative value was high, the danger of confusion and delay needed to be extremely high in order to “substantially outweigh[]” the probative value. Utah R. Evid. 403. The court correctly noted that there was no danger of unfair prejudice to the State. R. 178:175. Medical records that substantiate testimony concerning a defendant’s ability to commit the crime charged are “not the type of evidence that Utah courts have previously deemed highly prejudicial,” which includes gruesome photos, a victim’s sexual history, and certain statistical matters. *Downs*, 2008 UT App 247, ¶ 13 (internal quotation marks omitted). And medical records do not have “an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, such as bias, sympathy, hatred, contempt, retribution, or horror.” *Id.* ¶ 14 (internal quotation marks omitted). “Thus,” because the medical records “do not rise to that level of prejudice,” they were “presumptively admissible under rule 403.” *Jaeger*, 1999 UT 1, ¶ 19.

The court’s concerns that the medical records would confuse the jury and be cumulative were not a proper ground for excluding them in this case. R. 178:185-86. The records carried little if any danger of confusing the jury or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence. Defense counsel argued that the records were “in such a fashion that . . . a layperson . . . I don’t think would have any difficulty in understanding those records and his back problem.” R. 178:178. Mr. Jimenez wanted to alert the jury that he had complained of chronic back pain caused by crushed vertebrae, herniated disks, and torn ligaments well before this condition became defense to a criminal charge. Mr. Jimenez testified in court without objection that he had “six herniated disks,” “crushed vertebrae,” and a “tore tendon,” R. 178:190, that he was in physical therapy, R. 178:191,

receiving pain medication,” R. 178:191, and that he walked with a cane, R. 178:195. The medical records noted the same problems: “Herniated intervertebral disk; Tendon disorder,” Add. C p. 12, physical therapy for “Back Pain – Injury,” Add. C p. 38, prescribed medication for “constant pain” caused by back injuries, Add. C p. 58, 65, and the use of a cane, Add. C p. 31, 44. The records were not confusing. They confirm Mr. Jimenez’s testimony that he reported back pain, that he went to physical therapy for it and took pain killers, and that he had been walking with a cane for several years. Add. C p. 11-14, 25, 30, 31, 38, 43-45, 58, 65. Anyone qualified for jury service would be able to understand the records and their value to the case.

The records were not needlessly cumulative. In *State v. Stidham*, 2014 UT App 32, ¶¶ 8, 13, 29, 320 P.3d 696, the trial court had found that the testimony of a witness who would have testified that the defendant was the victim and not the aggressor would have been “merely cumulative” to the defendant’s similar testimony. This Court disagreed. *Id.* ¶ 30. It held that the evidence could not “be dismissed as ‘merely cumulative’ when it might help settle the balance in what amounted to a credibility determination between Defendant’s sole testimony and that of the State’s many witnesses.” *Id.* ¶ 30. Here, although the records would support Mr. Jimenez’s testimony, that does not mean that the medical records would be needlessly cumulative. Rather, they would affect “a credibility determination” of the defendant’s “sole testimony.” *Id.* In a case involving gang experts’ testimony, the Utah Supreme Court explained that even when the testimony of two experts “overlapped in some respects,” the evidence was not needlessly cumulative because each expert had “a different focus” and the testimony was

“highly probative of the State’s theory” of the case. *State v. Gonzalez*, 2015 UT 10, ¶ 44, 345 P.3d 1168.

Even in the context of newly discovered evidence, the inquiry into whether evidence is “merely cumulative” has more to do with its probative value and the inquiry does not begin and end with the question of whether the evidence goes “to the same point already made at trial.” *State v. Pinder*, 2015 UT 56, ¶ 31, _ P.3d _. “Evidence is ‘merely cumulative’ . . . if it is unlikely to have affected the outcome of trial.” *Id.* If Mr. Jimenez had attempted to introduce multiple witnesses to testify that he walked with a cane, for example, at some point the value of this evidence would be so low that the court would have discretion to exclude it as needlessly cumulative. But on the other hand, if a defendant wishes to introduce multiple alibi witnesses, for example, this evidence would be of such high probative value that it could not be dismissed as cumulative even and especially if each witness testified about exactly the same alibi.

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