2015

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Rick Jimenez Defendant/
Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded Defendant’s medical records under rule 403, Utah Rules of Evidence. The trial court properly determined that the evidence had the potential to waste time, confuse the issues, and mislead the jury. While the medical records contain later requests for prescriptions, the last visit to the doctor that they document was on January 23, 2012—almost a year before the burglary. Thus, the records do not address Defendant’s physical state at the time of the offense. And the records from Defendant’s clinic visits do not include any reports of scans or assessments of mobility and do not discuss the extent of Defendant’s mobility. Rather, they provide only a general diagnosis of “lumbago.”

Moreover, the records were over seventy pages long, and Defendant had provided no expert to guide the jury through them and explain what they meant. Thus, the jury would have had to pour over them, trying to extract and understand information they were not qualified to assess. The length of the records and the medical terminology in them may, in fact, have lead the jury to speculate that Defendant's injuries were more severe than the records—accurately read and explained—showed. Further, the records showed that Defendant received pain medications, but did not document how effective the medications were, thus leaving the jurors to speculate about whether Defendant was medicated at the time of the burglary and, if so, how that would have affected his ability to enter the home. Finally, the records contained a good deal of unnecessary information about Defendant's long history of requesting more medication without "showing up" for doctor's visits.

But even if the trial court erred in excluding the records, Defendant cannot show prejudice. The evidence against Defendant was overwhelming. Defendant's blood was found in the victim's house after the burglary. Its DNA matched the Defendant's DNA profile in an existing database. Defendant presented an implausible story of how the DNA came to be in the burglarized home, and the jury rejected it. The medical records

were not relevant to the explanation, and admitting them therefore would not have changed the outcome.

ARGUMENT

DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT EXCLUDED THE MEDICAL RECORDS OR THAT EXCLUDING THEM WAS PREJUDICIAL

Defendant claims that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding his medical records and that, absent the error, there was a reasonable likelihood of a verdict more favorable to him. Br.Aplt. 7-19. Specifically, he argues that his medical records would have “corroborated his testimony that his physical condition would have made it impossible to climb on a garbage can and through a window.” *Id.* 6. But Defendant has not shown that. Nor has he shown that the trial court abused its discretion when it found that the records were cumulative of Defendant’s testimony and may have confused the issues and misled the jury. And even assuming *arguendo* that the trial court erred in excluding the records, Defendant cannot show that any error affected his substantial rights, because the evidence of his guilt was overwhelming.

A. The medical records.

The records Defendant proffered were created by University of Utah Health Care. *See* Defense Ex. 1 cover sheet. They include clinic notes of

office visits from June 13, 2011 to January 23, 2012, and associated prescription requests, phone calls, and correspondence.² *See id.*

Defendant first visited the clinic on June 13, 2011. *Id.* at 64. He came in complaining of back pain in his upper and lower back. *Id.* 65. He stated that the pain had begun about five days earlier. *Id.* He reported a past injury and said he had herniated disks and tendon pain.³ *Id.* 65-66. He said that he had tried ibuprofen and Lortab. *Id.* 65. The doctor ordered lab testing and prescribed those two drugs. *Id.* 52, 50.

Defendant visited the clinic again on June 15, July 6, July 29, August 5, September 26, and October 26, 2011. *Id.* 56, 48, 39, 37, 29, 24. His final visit was on January 23, 2012. *Id.* 10. Throughout the visits, the doctor diagnosed Defendant's back and leg problems as "generalized pain," "back pain" or "lumbago." *Id.* 67, 65, 60, 58, 50, 39, 32, 14. The medical records also include Defendant's report that he tore his tendons in 2004 and listed "tendon disorder" and herniated disks or crushed vertebrae as part of his past medical history. *Id.* 58, 44, 43.

² The documents are arranged in reverse chronological order, begin with Defendant's last contacts with the clinic, and end with his first contacts. *See* Defense Ex. 1. It is sometimes difficult to determine where one document ends and another begins. *See id.*

³ On July 20, 2011, Defendant visited a physical therapist. State's Ex. 2 at 43. Defendant reported to the therapist that his back pain began in 2004 after he lifted an engine at work. *Id.*

But the records include no X-rays or other scans, no reports on such scans, and no mobility assessments. *See id.* 1-70. Moreover, the entries after January 23, 2012 merely memorialize Defendant's requests for medication from the pharmacy, the refills given, and the doctor's repeated cautions that she could not prescribe pain medication unless Defendant appeared for office visits. *See id.* 7, 3, 1.

B. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded Defendant's medical records.

Because "'trial courts have wide discretion in determining relevance, probative value, and prejudice,'" this Court generally "'will not reverse the trial court's ruling on evidentiary issues unless it is manifest that the trial court so abused its discretion that there is a likelihood that injustice resulted.'" *State v. Valdez*, 2006 UT App 290, ¶ 7, 141 P.3d 614 (quoting *State v. Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶12, 63 P.3d 72).

Evidence is relevant and presumptively admissible if "it has any tendency to make a fact more or less probable than it would be without the evidence" and "the fact is of consequence in determining the action." Utah R. Evid. 401; *see also State v. Richardson*, 2013 UT 50, ¶27, 308 P.3d 526. But the presumption of admissibility is rebuttable. A "court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the

issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.” Utah R. Evid. 403.

Defendant asserts that the proffered medical records were relevant to whether he could or could not have entered the window to burglarize Namaau’s home. Br.Aplt. 8. The trial court ruled that they were not. The trial court concluded that the records were not relevant because they were not current and because they were records of Defendant’s self-reported health problems, not of actual testing or other objective measures of Defendant’s mobility. R178:173-74.

But the court also ruled that even if the records were relevant to “corroborate” Defendant’s testimony about his inability to climb a garbage can and enter through the window, the records were cumulative of Defendant’s own trial testimony and presented the potential to confuse the

issues and mislead the jury. R178:175-86. Thus, the records were more prejudicial than probative.⁴ See Utah R. Evid. 403.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the records under rule 403. First, as explained, the records were not current. Although Defendant had seen his doctor at least monthly between June and October, 2011, he saw her only once after that—in January 2012, eleven months before the burglary. Accordingly, the records did not address his mobility status eleven months later in December 2012. Thus, the probative value of any information they might have provided concerning Defendant's ability to climb through a window was reduced because the records were not current. See, e.g., *Commissioner v. Delgado*, 939 N.E.2d 802, *1 (Mass App. 2011) (medical records indicating that defendant suffered from back pain

⁴ Defendant also argues that the trial court erred for not admitting a redacted version of the records he had not yet prepared. Br.Aplt. 1, 16-17. Defendant suggested that he could admit only pages 11-13, 25-26, 30, 38, 40, 43-45, and 58-59. R178:171. While redacting the records might have shortened them, it would not have reduced potential for confusing the jury. Redacting the records would have stripped the entries from their context and may have made them even more confusing to the jury. Moreover, the trial court's denying Defendant's midtrial request to redact the records and admit the redacted records, was "well within its power to manage the trial process." *State v. Clopten*, 2015 UT 82, ¶15, 794 Utah Adv. Rep. 33. "The trial court, with its inherent powers as the authority in charge of the trial, has broad latitude to control and manage the proceedings and preserve the integrity of the trial process." *State v. Parsons*, 781 P.2d 1275, 1282 (Utah 1989).

and pain in his groin were “temporally remote and not relevant or probative of his ability to perpetrate his attack upon the victim” three months later); *State v. Whitmire*, 2009 WL 2486178, at *15 (Tenn. Crim. App. Aug. 13, 2009) (mental health records two years prior to offense too remote to provide any information regarding defendant’s mental condition at time of offense).

Second, the records did not include any X-rays or reports of other scans that might have provided an objective basis for evaluating Defendant’s mobility nor did they include any mobility assessments or other tests that might have suggested the likelihood or not of Defendant’s being able to climb through a window. *See* Defendant’s Ex. 1, 1-70; *see also Delgado*, 939 N.E.2d at 802, *1 (medical records showing defendant reported suffering from back and groin pain “contain no suggestion that the defendant’s pain rendered him physically unable to accomplish the acts alleged”); *People v. Ortiz*, 686 N.Y.S.2d 386, **386 (N.Y. App. Div. 1999) (medical records concerning the condition of defendant’s jaw contained no information relevant to his ability to speak at the time of his hospitalization, much less to his ability to speak at the time of the offense three weeks later); *People v. Green*, 2003 WL 22359566, *3 (Mich. App. Oct. 16, 2003) (“medical records would have only shown that defendant suffered a leg injury months

before the incident, not that he could not have chased the victim"). And while the medical records document the doctor's prescribing pain medications, they do not document the effect of the medications on his mobility. Moreover, the diagnosis set forth in the records was simply "lumbago," a general term for any lower back pain, but a term not necessarily familiar to lay persons.⁵ *See id.* at 1, 10.

At the same time, the records had the potential to unduly waste time, confuse the issues, and mislead the jury. First, the records were lengthy – seventy pages long. *See id.* at 70; *see also Everett v. Ejofodomi*, 76 Mass. App. 1131, *2 (2010) (likely confusion to jury "left to sift through voluminous unexplained medical records"). This was especially problematic because Defendant did not have any expert, much less the doctor who created the

⁵ Lumbago "is considered by health professionals to be an antiquated term that designates nothing more than lower back pain caused by any of a number of underlying conditions. The pain may be mild or severe, acute or chronic, confined to the lower back or radiating into the buttocks and upper thighs." Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc. (2015), *available at* <http://www.britannica.com/science/lumbago>. *See also* "Lumbago," *available at* <http://www.avogel.co.uk/health/muscles-joints/back-pain/lumbago> ("Lumbago is another term for lower back pain, a condition experienced by up to 80% of people in the industrialised [English spelling] Western world at some point in their lives."); "Understanding Low Back Pain (Lumbago), *available at* <http://www.spine-health.com/conditions/lower-back-pain/understanding-low-back-pain-lumbago> ("Lumbago is the general term referring to low back pain, and the two terms are often used interchangeably.").

records, to introduce them, sort through them, and explain what they contained. *See* R178:67; *see also* *Wheaton v. State*, 2003 WL 21513623, *2 (Tex. App. July 3, 2003) (unaccompanied “by any explanatory expert testimony,” admitting medical records “would have created an impermissible danger of misleading the jury and confusing the issues”); *Kayman v. Rasheed*, 31 N.E.3d 427, 438 (Ill. App. 2015) (medical records containing “terminology unfamiliar to a lay jury” likely confusing); *Bullington v. Bush*, 2009 WL 1347177, at *2 (Ky. App. May 15, 2009) (“medical records may have been confusing to the jury because at that juncture they had not been explained by a medical expert”). It was also especially problematic where Defendant’s records sometimes list diagnoses under “Past Medical History,” but do not always clarify whether those particular diagnoses were merely self-reported. *See* Defense Ex. 1 at 44, 30, 25. These circumstances increased the likelihood of confusing the jurors and wasting their time pouring over records that they were not qualified to understand. *Cf. Troyan v. Reyes*, 855 N.E.2d 967, 974 (Ill. App. 2006) (“Like all business records, medical records may be excluded if they are not relevant or are too complex for the jury to understand on its own.”). Indeed, the first nine or ten pages of the records—the pages jurors were most likely to attempt to read—document only Defendant’s requests for renewal of his pain medications, responses to

those requests, the need for Defendant to be seen again, and his history of “no shows” for appointments made. *Sid.* at 1-9.

Additionally, the records were potentially unfairly prejudicial. Because the jurors did not have the background to understand the records, admitting them presented the possibility of confusing the jurors and causing them to speculate about the extent of Defendant’s injuries. See *People v. Collins*, 6 N.Y.S.2d 169, 171 (N.Y. App. Div. 2015) (excluding medical records where records might cause jurors to speculate about effect of injuries on defendant’s behavior); *Reed v. State*, 59 S.W.3d 278, 283 (Tex. App. 2001) (lay jurors not expected to evaluate technical medical evidence and make informed decision regarding proof of any link between the evidence and the fact issue without assistance of an expert in technical or specialized field). The seventy pages of Defendant’s self-reported health problems and the medical terminology used to document them may have led the jury to believe the injuries were severe simply because the records were so long. And to the extent they contained any diagnosis, such as “lumbago,” Defendant had called no expert to explain what that meant. Defendant’s Ex. 1 at 10, 66.

Finally, the records were cumulative of Defendant’s own trial testimony. Defense counsel conceded that Defendant intended to take the

stand to testify to his medical issues and difficulty in moving. R178:166. The medical records he wanted to present to the jury focused on his self-reported past medical history and the general diagnosis of lumbago. See R178:171 (listing pages 11, 12, 13, 25, 26, 30, 36, 40, 43, 44, 45, 58, and 59 of medical records he would introduce into the record if the court would allow him to redact the proffered records). The entries were cumulative of the testimony Defendant intended to and did present regarding his medical history and back pain. See R178:190-92. Trial courts have discretion to exclude evidence where, as here, a defendant's own testimony adequately allows him to present the defense theory. See *Whitmire*, 2009 WL 2486178, at *15.

Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded the medical records under rule 403.

C. Because the evidence of Defendant's guilt was overwhelming, Defendant cannot show that any error affected his substantial rights.

In any event, any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence against Defendant. Error that "does not affect the substantial rights of a party shall be disregarded." Utah R. Crim. P. 30(a). "An erroneous decision to exclude evidence constitutes reversible error only if the error is harmful. *State v. McCullar*, 2014 UT App 215, ¶ 53, 335 P.3d 900,

cert. denied, 343 P.3d 708 (Utah 2015) (citation and quotation omitted). An “error is harmful if it is reasonably likely that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.” *Id.* This Court will reverse only if convinced of “the likelihood of a different outcome ... sufficiently high to undermine confidence in the verdict.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Knight*, 734 P.2d 913, 920 (Utah 1987)).

Here, Defendant’s medical records would not have made a different outcome likely. Defendant’s DNA was found on blood left in Namaau’s home after she left for work on the day of the burglary and before she returned home later that day. R178:87-88. DNA testing showed that DNA in the blood matched Defendant’s. R178:146-53. The chances of its coming from a randomly selected person were infinitesimally small. R178:152.

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